No. 18-119721-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellant

 \mathbf{v} .

CHRISTOPHER PAYTON
Defendant-Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Pottawatomie County, Kansas Honorable Jeff Elder, District Judge District Court Case No. 17-CR-305

JODI LITFIN, # 24638
Assistant Solicitor General
Office of the Kansas Attorney General
120 SW 10th Ave., 2nd Floor
Topeka, Kansas 66612
(785) 296-2215
Fax: (785) 296-3131
iodi.litfin@.ag.ks.gov
Attorney for Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

The State charged Christopher Payton with one count of possession of methamphetamine, one count of unlawful possession of Oxycodone, one count of possession of drug paraphernalia, one count of unlawful possession of Alprazolam, a registration violation, no proof of insurance, and failure to display a license plate. Payton waived his right to a preliminary hearing and was bound over for trial. Payton filed a motion to suppress the evidence, which was granted by the district court. The State appeals the district court's order to suppress the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. The district court erred when it granted Payton's motion to suppress by concluding that Deputy Young's K-9 did not alert to the vehicle.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Payton was charged with one count of possession of methamphetamine, one count of unlawful possession of Oxycodone, one count of possession of drug paraphernalia, one count of unlawful possession of Alprazolam, a registration violation, no proof of insurance, and failure to display a license plate. (R. 1, 4-6.) Payton waived his right to a preliminary hearing and was bound over for trial. (R. 1, 25, 33.)

Payton filed a motion to suppress and argued that Deputy Justin Young's K-9 dog, Turbo, never alerted to Payton's vehicle during the stop, and thus, there was no probable cause to search the car. (R. 1, 48-52.) The State filed a response and argued that Turbo made several alerts when deployed around the vehicle, which provided probable cause to search the car. (R. 1, 55-58.)

A hearing was held on the motion to suppress, and the State called Deputy Young to testify. The State also admitted the video recording of the car stop and several K-9 certificates of training into evidence. (R. 2, generally.) At that hearing, Deputy Young testified that he had been a K-9 handler with the Sheriff's Office for about 3.5 years. (R. 2, 2, 17.) Deputy Young's K-9 was Turbo. (R. 2, 3.) Turbo was certified by the Kansas Police Dog Association and the National Police K-9 Association. (R. 2, 3, 18, 23-24; R. 3, State's Exhibits 2-6.) Deputy Young and

Turbo had monthly maintenance training, a fall seminar, and a spring certification seminar. (R. 2, 3, 24-26.)

Turbo is certified in narcotics. (R. 2, 3-4.) Turbo is certified in four odors: marijuana, heroin, cocaine, and methamphetamine. (R. 2, 3-4.) Turbo notifies

Deputy Young of the detection of an odor with an alert to the odor and then a final indication once he comes to the source. (R. 2, 4.) Deputy Young described Turbo's alert as:

It's a behavior change. It can be - he'll go from just doing a general sniff to a detailed sniff, which means he'll close his nose, and he'll start kind of checking in areas.

He can start bracketing, which is going from point A to point B, which is him trying to locate the center or where that odor's coming from. (R. 2, 4.)

Once Turbo finds something, his final indication "is a sit." (R. 2, 4.) Deputy Young testified that often times you will see a behavior change right before you see a final indication. (R. 2, 4.) In explaining the difference between an alert and a final indication, Deputy Young explained:

If it's in the center console of the vehicle, it's a really deep find inside the vehicle, only small amounts of odor might be getting out of the car. So that's where you see the alerts. You'll see the alert; you'll see him try to locate where it's coming from. They can't figure out — Turbo—if Turbo cannot locate exactly where it's at, he can't put his nose on exactly where the source is, he will not indicate. He will not give a final response. (R. 2, 31-32.)

Deputy Young testified about how he was trained to search a vehicle with Turbo:

As a general rule, we do two passes. We do one counterclockwise, and then we come back and do another one clockwise. Then, unless we

get an alert somewhere on the vehicle, and we'll go back in detail, trying to locate the source of where he was trying to - or back to the area he alerted in trying to find the source. Because of hidden compartments and magnetic boxes and things like that. (R. 2, 5.)

After that, Deputy Young would help Turbo search, by directing him to certain areas. (R. 2, 5-6.) Deputy Young testified that Turbo had no "false-positive" rate. (R. 2, 17.) Deputy Young further testified that Turbo's accuracy had never been called into question. (R. 2, 26.)

Deputy Young testified that on June 21, 2017, he observed Payton driving a vehicle with expired registration. (R. 2, 6.) Deputy Young initiated a traffic stop and asked Payton for some identification. (R. 2, 6.) Due to the fact that the vehicle's registration was expired and displayed an incorrect license tag, Deputy Young did not allow Payton to continue to drive it. (R. 3, State's Exhibit 1, 22:14-22:28.) Deputy Young instructed Payton to leave it parked as it was. (R. 3, State's Exhibit 1, 22:14-22:28.)

After the traffic stop was conducted and Payton and his passenger left on foot, Deputy Young deployed Turbo on the vehicle. (R. 2, 7.) Deputy Young testified that, during the deployment, Turbo alerted to the trunk, as well as the right-rear passenger door or wheel well area. (R. 2, 7, 8, 13, 20, 26-27.) Deputy Young testified that specifically as to the rear passenger door, Turbo attempted to sit down, but due to the sloped ground, he was thrown off and did not want to sit down. (R. 2, 8.) Deputy Young also testified that Turbo's mouth was closed and that he "detailed" at the rear passenger door. (R. 2, 28.) As to the trunk area, Turbo

"actually stopped and froze in place." (R. 2, 8.) Deputy Young testified that Turbo then looked back over at him. (R. 2, 8-9.)

A recording of the car stop and K-9 deployment was admitted as State's Exhibit 1 at the hearing. (R. 3, State's Exhibit 1.) The K-9 deployment takes place from approximately 23:44 to 25:11 on the recording.

The State attempted to ask Deputy Young about the subsequent search of the vehicle and what he ultimately found in the vehicle but Payton objected as "not relevant." (R. 2, 13-14.) The State argued that the location of where Deputy Young ultimately found the drugs inside the vehicle was relevant as to where Turbo alerted on the vehicle. (R. 2, 13.) The district court sustained the objection. (R. 2, 14.) Payton presented no evidence at the hearing.

Following a recess, the district court determined:

The Court has heard evidence on the defendant's Motion to Suppress, and at the request of counsel, the Court did again review that portion of the video that is contained on State's Exhibit 1, which was shown here in open court regarding the interaction of the K-9 Turbo with the vehicle the defendant was operating on the night in question.

And the Court has reviewed the Motion [and] Response that was filed by the parties, filed, I believe, on the 9th. The Court hasn't looked at all the cases, but I think I've got enough here that I can rule on this case.

First of all, the adequacy of the training of the handler and of the dog, the Court doesn't believe is an issue. The dog was properly certified, has done the training that is required I guess by the State of Kansas. I'm not sure there was testimony that it was required, but the dog is certified by the Kansas and National K-9 Associations who certify these dogs.

The real question in this case is whether the evidence is sufficient to show that the dog alerted, to establish probable cause to search this vehicle.

And the Court did not get to do as much research as it would like on this issue, but the Court will point out that the 10th Circuit refers to alerts and final indications as was argued by the state. The alerts could – the dog could alert to the odor of the drug or drugs the dog is trained to detect, and could have a final indication by sit in this case.

The dog did not give a final indication in this case, in the Court's view, nor can the Court interpret what the dog was seen doing on the videotape be an attempt to make a final indication.

I just don't see it. And I'm the trier of fact, and I don't see it. But then we get to the question of whether the conduct of the dog testified to by its handler was sufficient alert to establish probable

cause.

I don't know how much research counsel's gone into it, but the Court found a case, U.S. v. Wilson, 995 F.Supp.2d 455 (2014) case, which I believe is in the Fifth Circuit – I can't remember what district it was – but the Tenth Circuit has a very liberal view of what an alert is, and what can establish probable cause.

The Fifth Circuit does not have that view. The Fifth Circuit refers to alerts, what – what the Tenth Circuit refers to as alerts the Fifth Circuit refers to as casting, and then, of course, the final indication.

And they talked about that a little bit in the Wilson case, but the Fifth Circuit, as I understand from reading the cases, would not have upheld the search that was upheld in the Tenth Circuit.

Now I understand that Kansas is in the Tenth Circuit. But in the — is Perada — Parada, while the dog in that case wasn't deemed to have given a final indication, if you look at the facts in that case, it said the handler testified that the dog's body stiffened and his breathing became deeper and more rapid and he tried to jump in a window. A lot more, I guess I referred to, as aggressive behavior by the dog than what was testified to in this case.

I found one Kansas case, I'm sure counsels' found it as well, State versus Barker 252 Kan. 885 indicating, and all the Court says there, is if the dog alerts, that can establish probable cause. But at least from my reading of the case, the court does not go on to explain what alert

means, whether that means casting, as referred to by the Fifth Circuit, or final indication, or something else.

But it does say there had to be some evidence that the dog's behavior reliably indicates a likely presence of a controlled substance.

Now, in this case, and the Court watched the video, two things stuck out to me, and that is, in my view, the dog appears to simply be sniffing around the vehicle. Stops at the license tag, and stops at the right rear passenger side. Also appeared to stop a little bit on the driver's side. I couldn't see what was happening at the front of the vehicle. But from comments that the handler could have been saying on the video, it didn't seem that the handler was real confident that there had been an actual alert happening. And in fact, when at the very tailend when discussing with the other officers, they were trying to come up with different explanations as to why he had stopped at the license plate. Maybe there's some air pockets or maybe – I believe actually Officer Riat was – could be heard being asked if she had been handling any drugs earlier in the day, trying to come up with some explanation.

They read into the record, and the officer testified, that these detailed sniffing and bracketing were things that his dog, as I understood the testimony through his experience with this dog, he has learned as an indication by the dog that it has alerted to the odor of a narcotic. And when his mouth is closed, of course, I couldn't see whether the dog's mouth was closed or half-open, or what the case was.

(as read): And U.S. v. Wilson, the Court stated as follows: "A court cannot accept a handler's subjective determination that a dog has made some otherwise undetectable alert, which conclusion would be, for all practical purposes, immune from review. Given the nature of the constitutional right at issue, the Supreme Court has found this premise to be unacceptable."

And it quotes from Beck v. Ohio, US Supreme Court case. "If an officer's subjective good faith alone were the test, protections of the Fourth Amendment would evaporate, and the people would be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects only at the discretion of the police. To allow a search predicated upon a officer's interpretation of the other utterly minimalist lesser showing exhibited by the dog in this case would be tantamount to permitting law enforcement officers to issue their own search warrants based upon their own subjective analysis, something the Framers explicitly prohibited."

There's just not enough reliable evidence for this Court to find that the dog did alert in this case to establish probable cause.

I think it was very minimalistic as indicated in - or as that term was used in U.S. v. Wilson and the defendant's Motion to Suppress is granted.

[Prosecutor]: I'm sorry, but you're basing it off of U.S. v. Wilson?

The Court: I'm not basing it off that. I'm just referring to that — it's just as in that case, counsel, this was very minimal conduct by the dog. It's not what I would expect. If there had been — I would have expected that dog to have — to have indicated, to have sat at the license plate or to have been more interested in the license plate. I just don't think there was enough. I'm sure that this dog does a lot better job on the other different cases, but not in this one. So I'm going to grant the defendant's Motion to Suppress. Evidence seized as a result of the search is not admissible in court. (R. 2, 38-44.)

The district court granted Payton's motion to suppress. (R. 1, 65; R. 2, 38-44.)

The State now appeals the district court's order granting Payton's motion to suppress. (R. 1, 60, 68.) Additional facts will be discussed as necessary.

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. The district court erred when it granted Payton's motion to suppress by concluding that Deputy Young's K-9 did not alert to the vehicle.

Jurisdiction

At the suppression hearing, the district court orally granted Payton's motion to suppress. (R. 1, 65; R. 2, 38-44.) The State appealed. (R. 1, 60, 68.) The State may file an interlocutory appeal when a judge of the district court suppresses evidence. K.S.A. 22-3603.

Standard of Review

The factual underpinnings regarding a motion to suppress are reviewed for substantial competent evidence, but the legal conclusion drawn from those facts is reviewed de novo. *State v. Campbell*, 297 Kan. 273, 279, 300 P.3d 72 (2013). "Substantial competent evidence is legal and relevant evidence a reasonable person could accept to support a conclusion." *State v. Bird*, 298 Kan. 393, 399, 312 P.3d 1265 (2013).

Although this Court may consider whether a videotape of a traffic stop supports the district court's factual findings, this Court does not review the videotape in an effort to invade the district court's province of determining witness credibility or weighing the evidence. *State v. Hess*, 37 Kan. App. 2d 188, 191, 153 P.3d 557 (2006).

Argument

Here, Payton did not dispute the validity of the initial traffic stop or Deputy Young's action of deploying Turbo to sniff the vehicle. (R. 1, 48-52.) Thus, this Court should consider those unchallenged actions lawful.

The district court correctly framed the issue presented as "whether the evidence is sufficient to show that the dog alerted, to establish probable cause to search this vehicle." (R. 2, 39-40.) In granting Payton's motion to suppress, the district court made several findings regarding Turbo. The district court's finding as to whether Turbo alerted on the vehicle is the crux of the State's appeal.

The district court concluded that "[t]here's just not enough reliable evidence for this Court to find that the dog did alert in this case to establish probable cause." (R. 2, 43.) Further clarifying its ruling, the district court specifically stated that it was not basing its decision on *U.S. v. Wilson*. The district court explained:

I'm not basing it off that. I'm just referring to that - it's just as in that case, counsel, this was very minimal conduct by the dog. It's not what I would expect. If there had been - I would have expected that dog to have - to have indicated, to have sat at the license plate or to have been more interested in the license plate. I just don't think there was enough. I'm sure that this dog does a lot better job on the other different cases, but not in this one. (R. 2, 43-44.)

Candidly, this Court normally gives great deference to the factual findings of the district court. State v. Hardyway, 264 Kan. 451, 456, 958 P.2d 618 (1998).

Nevertheless, the district court's finding that Turbo did not alert to the vehicle was not based on substantial competent evidence. In fact, the district court's findings that Turbo did not alert to the vehicle and did not attempt to make a final indication, or sit, completely disregarded all of the evidence presented at the hearing. Therefore, the district court's order granting Payton's motion to suppress must be reversed.

A. The district court disregarded the unopposed evidence that Turbo alerted to the trunk and the passenger door.

Deputy Young testified that Turbo first alerted to the trunk. (R. 2, 7, 8, 10, 13, 20, 26-27, 29-30.) When asked how Turbo alerted to the trunk, Deputy Young responded, "[t]he trunk area, he actually stopped and froze in place. And he does—and I see it in training constantly where he'll look back over towards me." (R. 2, 8.)

When watching the video recording Deputy Young explained when Turbo alerted to the trunk:

[s]o there you see he goes around the back of the trunk. I stop there at the corner and he can – you can see him at about the left tail light there. He was – his mouth was closed, and he was starting to detail around the trunk area. And he's working the other way and I'm trying to call him back to go around the driver side so he can continue our counter — or our clockwise. (R. 2, 10.)

Deputy Young's testimony is supported by the video, where Turbo has a change in behavior and stops at the trunk for several seconds, smelling the area and detailing on the first pass. (R. 3, State's Exhibit 1 at 23:55-24:02.) The video recording showed Turbo alert two more times to the trunk. (R. 3, State's Exhibit 1 at 24:51-24:57; 25:06-25:07.) Deputy Young testified that the behavior change at the trunk was when Turbo went the opposite direction and was sniffing the trunk with his mouth closed. (R. 2, 30.)

Deputy Young testified that although another officer had removed the license plate with her hands, in an area where Turbo alerted on the vehicle, Turbo has never alerted or indicated in any area where there was a human odor. (R. 2, 27.)

Deputy Young explained:

We have done training with human odor in our training areas, whether it's clothing, whether it's areas that's been touched by officers that [have had] no narcotics on their hands. So he has been exposed, and it has been in the training areas as an — and in a controlled environment and he's never —never alerted or indicated in any area where there was a human odor. (R. 2, 27.)

Deputy Young also testified that Turbo alerted to the rear passenger door.

(R. 2, 8, 28.) Deputy Young testified that the specific behavior change was that

Turbo "detailed" at the rear passenger door with his mouth closed. (R. 2, 28.)

Deputy Young explained that Turbo will generally keep his mouth slightly open

during the deployment but when he gets an odor "you'll see him cinch up and you'll

see that nose start working. Instead of breathing through the mouth and nose, he'll

switch to [breathing] directly out of his nose." (R. 2, 28-29.)

Deputy Young testified that after that Turbo again "stopped for a momentary second, looked at that same spot again at the door." (R. 2, 11; R. 3, State's Exhibit 1 at 24:40-42.) Deputy Young stated it was the rear passenger door handle where Turbo stopped again. (R. 2, 11; R. 3, State's Exhibit 1 at 24:40-42.) Then, Deputy Young testified:

And then right here – I mean you can see all through that you can see him searching and sniffing that back of it. And that there he stops in place and you can kind of see him glance just a little bit back towards me. And on like weak odors, sometimes he will be hesitant to sit because he's not so sure the extent of a source, which means that – his training, he's trained to put his nose on the source of the odor. And in cars it's hard for them to do because they can be buried in backpacks, inner consoles, those kinds of things.

So a lot of times, depending on how strong the odor is and where it's coming from, you'll see just behavioral changes or he'll stop like that and just stand there. (R. 2, 11-12.)

In concluding that Turbo did not alert, the district court also noted that Deputy Young's comments on the video recording indicated that he was not confident that the dog alerted and that he was trying to come up with different explanations for why Turbo stopped at those areas. In the video recording, Deputy Young made numerous comments throughout the deployment but never indicated or said that Turbo did not alert. (R. 3, State's Exhibit 1 at 23:44 to 25:11.) Deputy

Young asks Turbo, "what do you got there dude?" and "what do you got dude?" when Turbo is at the trunk of the vehicle. (R. 3, 24:36-38, 24:55.) State's Exhibit 1 at Conversely, Deputy Young asks Turbo "not gonna show me nothing there?" when they are at the front of the vehicle. (R. 3, State's Exhibit 1 at 24:45-46.) These comments support Deputy Young's determination that Turbo alerted to the trunk of the car.

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