18-119721-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS APPELLANT vs. CHRISTOPHER PAYTON APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court Pottawatomie County, Kansas Honorable JEFF ELDER District Court Case No. 17 CR 305

> Brenda M. Jordan #16585 Brenda Jordan Law Office LLC 404 Humboldt Street, Ste B Manhattan, KS. 66502 ph. (785) 532-9119 fax (877) 286-1065 bjordanlaw@twinvalley.net Attorney for Appellee/Defendant

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITY

Issue 1:

The District Court properly suppressed the evidence based upon the lack of reliable evidence that the drug dog alerted to the car, thus resulting in a lack of probable cause for the warrantless search of the vehicle.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court uses a bifurcated standard to review a district court's decision on a motion to suppress. Without reweighing the evidence, the appellate court reviews the district court's factual findings to determine whether they are supported by substantial competent evidence. State v. Sanchez-Loredo. 294 Kan. 50, 54, 272 P.3d 34 (2012). Substantial evidence refers to legal and relevant evidence that a reasonable person could accept as being adequate to support a conclusion. State v. May. 293 Kan. 858, 862, 269 P.3d 1260 (2012). The district court's ultimate legal conclusion is reviewed de novo. Sanchez-Loredo, 294 Kan. at 54, 272 P.3d 34.

This court presumes the district court found all facts necessary to support its judgment, unless the record on appeal fails to support that presumption. *State v. Vaughn*, 288 Kan. 140, 143, 200 P.3d 446 (2009). The State has the burden of proving that a search or seizure was lawful. *State v. Anderson*, 281 Kan. 896, 901, 136 P.3d 406 (2006).

Whether probable cause exists to search a vehicle is determined by examining the totality of the circumstances. *Sanchez–Loredo*. 294 Kan. at 55, 272 P.3d 34. A reliable K–9 alert may alone supply the probable cause necessary to conduct a warrantless vehicle search. *State v. Brewer*, 49 Kan.App.2d 102, 305 P.3d 676 (2013).

The appellate court will no reweigh the evidence or the credibility of the

witnesses as found by the trier of fact. State v. Daws, 303 Kan. 785, 789, 368 P.3d 1074 (2016).

The challenge herein is not whether an alert by a K-9 trained in the detection of the odor of controlled substances can support a warrantless search. The issue before the Court in this matter is what is required to confirm or establish an 'alert' or in the words of Brewer, supra, a reliable alert, justifying a warrantless search of a motor vehicle. In the instant matter, the question is what substantial competent evidence exists that an alert occurred, thus establishing a 'reliable alert' justifying the search.

The District Court, as the trier of fact, had the ability to hear the testimony and review the recording, in light of that video. After doing so, the court found that sufficient evidence did not exist to support the claim that the dog had alerted, thus, probable cause did not exist. Specifically, the District Court was concerned with allowing the decision to be made based upon a subjective determination by the handler of the dog. (R. Vol. 2, p. 42). This was due to the fact that the District Court did not see nor observe the claimed 'changes in behavior' nor 'attempt to sit' that Deputy Young testified established probable cause for him to proceed with a warrantless search. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 41-42).

Thus, the District Court's findings should be upheld as they were based upon the evidence which allowed the finding that substantial competent evidence did not establish that the dog had alerted as claimed by the deputy.

Sub Issue A

The alleged evidence that the dog alerted to the trunk and passenger door was not disregarded nor unopposed.

The State's claim that probable cause existed is based upon an assertion that Turbo

attempted to alert on the 'passenger door' by attempting to sit (R. Vol. 2, p. 8) and that he alerted 'out of the trunk area'. At the trunk area, the door purportedly 'froze and looked back over towards' the officer. (R. Vol., 2 p. 8).

These claims were not 'unopposed' as Appellant asserts in sub-issue A and more importantly, they were not disregarded by the Court. The Court found to the contrary upon review of the evidence presented. The district court heard the testimony during the motion to suppress and independently reviewed the videotape of the drug dog sniff

Counsel for the Defendant/Appellee questioned the officer about the claimed 'attempt to sit', she inquired of the frequency of the dog 'sitting' on actual stops versus training, (R. Vol. 2, p. 15); that the training has changed (R. Vol. 2, p. 16); questioned about the 'attempt to sit' that is claimed to be shown in the video. As to the alert near the trunk area, counsel cross examined the deputy as to discrepancies in his affidavit versus his testimony during the suppression hearing (R. Vol. 2, p. 19); the other officer's use of gloves when removing the plate (R. Vol. 2, p. 18); pointed out that the dog went passed that license plate more than one time, and only 'indicated' one time (R. Vol. 2, p. 20). Additionally, the fact that during the passes around the car the officer was commenting to the dog, including saying 'nothing' a couple of times and 'nothing for me'; and confirming that the dog 'had failed to be involved'; all challenging the claims being made during the hearing that the dog was 'alerting' to the car. (R. Vol. 2, p. 21). Further, challenge was also posed and thus, called into question, the claim of an alert due to the dog 'closing his mouth when counsel questioned, and the deputy, confirmed, that he had directed the dog to detail. The deputy confirmed that when he directs the dog to detail, he is to close his mouth. (R. Vol. 2, p. 28-29).

When asked specifically about the 'change' at the passenger door, the deputy explained that the dog "will cinch up and you'll see that nose start working. Instead of breathing through the mouth and nose, he'll switch to switching directly out of his nose'. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 28-29). This would mean his mouth would be closed. While trying to explain that Turbo would not necessarily have been shutting his mouth to detail (sniff harder) the following transpired:

Q: Well, you testified earlier what detailing means, and that's where you go back and help the dog is what you said, try to pinpoint the odor; correct?

A. Okay?

Q: Right? Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. So when you ask the dog to detail, you're asking him to basically sniff more to see if he can locate the odor, correct?

A. Yes.

Q So when you expect him to shut his mouth completely to do what you told him to do?

A. That's not always the case.

(R. Vol. 2, p. 29)

The deputy's response provides confirmation of the danger of allowing an officer subjective determination that the dog made an alert. The deputy's original explanation of detailing and the dog being directed to detail, would mean that the dog is shutting his mouth and sniffing just from his nose. Thus, the deputy has directed him to detail, thereby creating the very 'change in behavior' he is asserting shows an 'alert'. Thus, the allowance of a deputy to determine if the dog alerted creates a situation where there is no

ability to challenge or review the claim.

The District Court heard this information and reviewed the video, not only while the deputy was narrating it (R. Vol. 2, p. 10-12), but also upon cross (R. Vol. 2, p. 22) and independently in chambers during the break (R. Vol. 2, p. 38). The comments by the District Court as to the deputy speaking to the other officers about 'other explanations' further explain or show that the Deputy was not indicating or certain that the dog had alerted. The deputy is heard on the video while deploying the dog around the vehicle commenting at various points "nothing" "nothing" (R. Vol 2, p. 21) and "you've got nothing for me"; all challenging the subjective claim that the dog had alerted on the car which would give the officer probable cause for the warrantless search.

All of these issues raised during the hearing call into question the deputy's credibility as to his belief that the dog had alerted. The district court, having the ability to hear the answers, and see the testimony, and the video, provided the district court judge with the ability to make a determination as to the credibility of the deputy as to the presence of a change in behavior and thus, an alert. By the district court's comments as to the court's observations, make clear the court's determination as to that credibility as to the question of an alert or not.

Sub Issue B

The claimed evidence that the dog attempted to give a final indication was not disregarded nor unopposed.

The District Court, as the trier of fact, watched the video, at least three (3) times.

The Court found that the dog did not 'attempt to make a final indication.' State's exhibit I

is a clear video which the District Court could view; as can this court. The video shows the car is parked on the side of the road with sufficient distance for the dog and deputy to walk around the car on the passenger side several times. (R. Vol. 3, State's 1). Nowhere within the video is the dog, nor the officer for that matter, seen 'stumbling' on a slope of the terrain. Additionally, upon review of the video, there is no indication that the "dog's left rear leg hit" anything as claimed by the deputy. (R. Vol. 2, p. 8) The video clearly shows the dog easily walking around the car and shows no indication of an issue with a slope. (R. Vol 3, State's 1). This is information presented to the trier of fact, which failed to convince the trier of fact that an alert occurred which would provide probable cause for the search. The state failed to produce substantial competent evidence to the trier of fact to establish that a reliable alert occurred to justify the search of the vehicle.

Likewise, Appellate Court has the evidence, State's exhibit 1 (R. Vol 3) available for review to find that the District Court's legal conclusions drawn from the evidence were appropriate.

Sub Issue C

The District Court's conclusions were properly based upon the evidence presented which sustained the Defendant's claim that the State failed to present substantial competent evidence.

When a motion to suppress is filed, the State bears the burden of proof to establish the lawfulness of the search and seizure. *State v. Boyd*, 275 Kan. 271, 64 Kan. P.3d 419 (2003). As noted herein, the evidence before the Court at the hearing on the motion to suppress included the testimony of Deputy Young (R. Vol. 2), and the video of the stop of the car and resulting use of Turbo, the K-9. (R. Vol. 3, State's #1).

During the hearing, the State had Deputy Young narrate the video, explaining to the Court what he claimed to be the behavioral changes of Turbo. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 10-12). In addition, the video was played during cross examination (R. Vol. 2, p. 22) and the Court reviewed the video in chambers before ruling on the motion (R. Vol. 2, pp. 35, 38).

The District Court's decision was based upon evidence which was presented and the fact that such evidence did not provide substantial competent evidence to sustain the State's burden of proof. Despite Appellant's claim, the evidence presented was not 'uncontested'. The Appellee/Defendant contested the claims by the deputy. Evidence is contested when called into question and contradictory statements and information is elicited. To contest the claims of the deputy, a witness nor expert were required. The Appellee/Defendant's questions to the deputy challenging his claims, inquiry as to other sources of 'smell' on the license plate (R. Vol. 2, pp. 18-19, 22); the discrepancy in the training versus application (R. Vol. 2, pp. 14, 16); the deputy's comments of 'nothing' as the dog was working the car (R. Vol. 2, p. 21); discrepancy in testimony as compared to the affidavit (R. Vol. 2, pp. 19-20); challenging the behavior change claim of the closed mouth when the deputy had directed Turbo to search which would be nature cause him to close his mouth (R. Vol. 2, pp. 28-29); are all examples of challenges, and the resulting answers, evidence for the Court to consider. The Court had sufficient evidence to find that the State had failed to meet it's burden of proof, and thus, grant the motion to suppress.

Sub Issue D

The District Court did not error in consideration of the training and experience of Deputy Young as the K-9 Handler.

The Appellant's assertions within this issue completely disregard the Court's considerations and findings as to the deputies testimony which were contrary to the claims by the deputy. The court did not discredit the dog's training; nor completely the deputies, the court did discredit the deputy's claim that the dog alerted. What the court discounted was the deputies attempt, after the fact, to identify actions or behaviors to substantiate a claim of an alert. The court noted the testimony by the deputy, but discounted it, and by that finding, determined it not credible. The most poignant example of this, is the deputy's claim that Turbo 'attempted to sit' at the passenger door of the car. (R. Vol. 2, p. 39). Further, the Court discounted the deputy's claim that the dog made any observable change in behavior which could be accepted as an alert. The problem for the State in this instance, is within the confines of the video, at the time of the events, the deputy's remarks do not match his testimony; his discussion calls into question his confidence that the dog had alerted. (R. Vol. 2, p. 41-42). "There's just not enough reliable evidence for this Court to find that the dog did alert in this case to establish probable cause." (R. Vol. 2, p. 42).

Sub Issue E

No error occurred when the District Court precluded the State from presenting evidence as to the ultimate findings during the search.

During the hearing on the motion to suppress, the prosecutor inquired of the deputy as to what he found during the search that ensued. The Court sustained an

objection by the Defendant's counsel based upon relevancy. Appellant seeks to have this court find that the deputy's testimony, and or what was ultimately found, is determinative and thus, relevant to the determination regarding whether the drug dog alerted. (R. Vol. 2, p. 13-14).

The issue before the court, as noted by the Court, was 'whether the evidence is sufficient to show that the dog alerted, to establish probable cause.' (R. Vol. 2, p. 39). The point of relevance to this question in the field is when the dog purportedly alerted and the deputy made the decision to search. The question before the Court was whether substantial competent evidence was provided to establish that the dog had shown an alert that justified the search.

In reviewing a decision by a district court regarding the admission of evidence, the appellate court's review is a two step process, first determining if the evidence is relevant, and if so, then the decision of admission is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Phillips*, 295 Kan. 929, 947, 287 P.3d 245 (2012). Kansas has defined relevant evidence at K.S.A. 60-401(b) as evidence having any tendency in reason to prove any material fact.

In the instant matter, what, if anything, was found during the search is not relevant to the question that was before the District Court- whether there was substantial competent evidence that Turbo alerted at or before the point in time the deputy decided to search the vehicle. The finding of drugs is no more relevant than had the search not yielded drugs or anything; or alternatively, had yielded something other illegal item or evidence, example stolen property, or a murder weapon. In that scenario, the State would

have been objecting to relevance pointing to the fact that the issue before the court was the point of the decision to search, the dog's accuracy record and whether the search was justified by the alert by the dog. The claim would be, the dog alerted providing probable cause, and thus, it is irrelevant that drugs were not found, the search was lawful.

In the instant matter, the point the deputy claims the dog alerted, is the relevant consideration for the Court. Thus, denial of admission of testimony as to the ultimate search of the car, was not relevant to that issue. Had the dog's accuracy ratings been in issue, the findings might have been relevant, but as to the question of 'did the dog display sufficient signs of an alert?' what was found is not relevant.

Should this court decide the outcome of the search is relevant in determining if there was sufficient evidence that the dog alerted, then the second step must be considered, was the denial an abuse of discretion. Given the issue before the Court, an issue that centered on the point the dog purportedly alerted and whether there was sufficient evidence to support the claim of an alert, denial of testimony of what was found during the search was not abuse of discretion.

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